
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSIPPI

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

v. CRIMINAL CASE NO. 3:09CR002

BOBBY DELAUGHTER

GOVERNMENT’S COMBINED MEMORANDUM OF AUTHORITIES AND
RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT DELAUGHTER’S MOTION 

TO DISMISS COUNT ONE FOR FAILURE TO CHARGE AN OFFENSE

Comes now the United States of America by and through the United States Attorney for

the Northern District of Mississippi and in response to the defendant Delaughter’s “Motion to

Dismiss Count One for Failure to Charge an Offense” would respectfully show unto the Court

the following facts, to-wit:

1.

Count One charges a § 371 conspiracy to violate Title 18, United States Code, Section

666 (bribery concerning programs receiving federal funds).  Section 666 reads in pertinent part:

Whoever . . . being an agent . . . of a state . . .or any agency thereof
. . .corruptly accepts or agrees to accept, anything of value from
any person, intending to be influenced . . . in connection with any
business . . . of such . . . government or agency involving anything
of value of $5,000 or more (shall be guilty of this offense if said
government or agency receives, in any one year period, benefits in
excess of $10,000 under a federal program.) (emphasis added)

It is the defendant’s  opinion that the indictment fails to charge an offense in violation of Section

666.  He says it omits the required exchange of an official action for a thing of value.

DISCUSSION

An indictment should allege the elements of the offense, put the defendant on notice of

what it is he is to defend against, and protect him from a subsequent prosecution for the same
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offense.  In considering a motion to dismiss an indictment, a District Court must accept as true

all factual allegations set forth in that indictment.  United States v. Kay, 359 F.3d 738 (5th Cir.

2004).  In order to prove Delaughter guilty of conspiring to violate Section 666, the government

would have to prove each of the following elements:  First, that Judge Delaughter and at least

one other person came to an understanding or made an agreement to participate in a bribery

concerning programs receiving federal funds; second, that the defendant understood the unlawful

purpose of the agreement and joined in it willfully, that is, with intent to further its unlawful

purpose; and third, that one of the co-conspirators during the existence of the conspiracy

knowingly committed at least one of the overt acts described in the indictment, in order to

accomplish some object or purpose of the conspiracy.  The elements of the underlying 666 are: 

First, that as a duly elected circuit court judge for Hinds County, Mississippi, during the period

of time alleged in the indictment, Bobby Delaughter was an agent of the government of the State

of Mississippi; and second, that during any one year period specified in the indictment, the

government of the State of Mississippi received federal funds in excess of $10,000; and third,

that during that period of time the defendant corruptly accepted or agreed to accept anything of

value intending to be influenced in connection with business then pending before the court, said

business being of a value of $5,000 or more.  

The indictment alleges that Bobby Delaughter was a public officer and duly elected

official serving the State of Mississippi in the capacity of circuit court judge for Hinds County,

Mississippi, part of the Seventh Circuit Court District, a subdivision of the judicial branch of the

State of Mississippi.  As such, he was clearly an agent of the State of Mississippi, and the

indictment alleges that during the applicable period of time the State of Mississippi received in a
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one-year period federal funds in excess of $10,000.  The indictment further alleges that Dickie

Scruggs, intending for Judge Delaughter to be corruptly influenced, caused his brother-in-law,

then a United States Senator from Mississippi, to offer Judge Delaughter consideration for an

appointment to a federal judgeship then open in the Southern District of Mississippi.  The

indictment alleges that Delaughter agreed to accept a thing of value (that federal judgeship).  The

indictment alleges that he was in fact influenced, affording the Scruggs legal team secret access

to the court, ex parte reviews of orders prior to their entry, and findings of fact that saved

Scruggs millions of dollars, none of which was made known to the plaintiff Wilson or his

attorneys.  

Additionally, the indictment alleges that Joseph C. Langston, Timothy R. Balducci and

Steven A. Patterson, acting for and on behalf of Richard F. “Dickie” Scruggs, paid Ed Peters

$50,000 cash to procure his assistance in their scheme to corruptly influence Judge Delaughter

and upon their successful completion of that objective, paid him an additional $950,000 for his

help corrupting Judge Delaughter.  

The indictment also alleges that Delaughter accepted a thing of value for himself  “and

others.”  At trial evidence of other similar acts will be offered by the government pursuant to

Federal Rule of Evidence 404(b) to show circumstantially that Judge Delaughter knew or should

have known that his close personal friend and political mentor, Ed Peters, was making money

influencing him.  The evidence will show that Wilson v. Scruggs was not the first case in which

Ed Peters appeared ex parte, secretly influencing the judge on behalf of one litigant without the

knowledge of opposing counsel.  Judge Delaughter knew or should have know that Ed Peters

was not doing that free.  
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Clearly a federal judgeship is a thing of value and it matters not that Judge Delaughter

did not ultimately receive an appointment to the federal bench.  Whether or not he was being

seriously considered doesn’t matter.  What does matter is that he aspired to be a federal judge, he

agreed to accept a judgeship if it was offered, and his hunger for that judgeship clouded his

judgment and caused him to corruptly favor Scruggs in the high dollar litigation pending before

the court.  On analogous facts the Second Circuit Court of Appeals in United States v. Williams,

705 F.2d 603 (2d Cir. 1983) noted the appellant’s contention that the phrase “anything of value”

meant something that objectively had actual value:  

Their point in this regard is that the stock received by the Senator
had no commercial value, and that Judge Pratt erred when he told
the jury that stock could be a thing of value “. . . if, regardless of
its actual worth in the commercial world, you find that the
defendant believed that the stock had value for himself.”  We think
Judge Pratt correctly construed the statutes to focus on the value
that the defendants subjectively attached to the items received. 
The phrase “anything of value” in bribery and related statutes has
consistently been given a broad meaning (citations omitted) to
carry out the Congressional purpose of punishing misuse of public
office.  Corruption of office occurs when the officeholder agrees to
misuse his office in the expectation of gain, whether or not he has
correctly assessed the worth of the bribe.  (emphasis added)  

Williams at 623.  See also United States v. Marmolejo, 89 F.3d 1185, 1191-1192 (5th Cir. 1996)

and United States v. Duvall, 846 F.2d 966 (5th Cir. 1988).  Scruggs caused a federal judgeship to

be dangled in front of Delaughter.  In doing so he managed to ensure that he had a friendly judge

sitting on the bench, and he took full advantage of his ex parte access to the court.  Delaughter

also knew or should have known that Ed Peters wasn’t working free.
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Conclusion

Delaughter’s agreement to accept a federal judgeship, obviously a thing of value, coupled

with his willingness to be corruptly influenced in his handling of the Wilson v. Scruggs case, as

charged in the indictment, is sufficient to properly allege a violation of Title 18, United States

Code, Section 666.  The matter should be submitted to a jury of his peers.  

Respectfully submitted,

JIM M. GREENLEE
United States Attorney

/s/ Robert H. Norman
By:
      ROBERT H. NORMAN
Assistant United States Attorney
Mississippi Bar No. 3880
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, ROBERT H. NORMAN, Assistant United States Attorney, hereby certify that I

electronically filed the foregoing GOVERNMENT’S COMBINED MEMORANDUM OF

AUTHORITIES AND RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT DELAUGHTER’S MOTION 

TO DISMISS COUNT ONE FOR FAILURE TO CHARGE AN OFFENSE with the Clerk

of the Court using the ECF system which sent notification of such filing to the following:

John D. Cline, Esq.
jcline@jonesday.com

Thomas A. Durkin, Esq.
tdurkin@durkinroberts.com

Lawrence L. Little, Esq.
larry@larrylittlelaw.com

This the 9th day of April, 2009.

__/s/ Robert H. Norman________________
ROBERT H. NORMAN
Assistant United States Attorney
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